2004

Jamis M. Johnson v. Jayson Orvis : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

INTRODUCTION

The grounds for reversing summary judgment below are as follows:

1. The district court committed reversible manifest error by erroneously applying the doctrine of judicial estoppel to dismiss Appellant's cause of action where the elements necessary for applying the doctrine were not met or satisfied.

2. The district court improperly weighed the contested facts and Appellant's credibility when it concluded that it was satisfied that Appellant was "avoiding creditors" in an unrelated prior case and, therefore, he could not maintain a partnership action

against Appellee in this case, and the court entered a declaratory judgment against Appellant declaring that no partnership existed between Appellant and Appellee.

As shown herein, this Court should grant this motion for summary disposition and reverse the grant of summary judgment below as a matter of law for manifest error on the foregoing grounds and as further argued herein below.

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

STATUTES

PARTNERSHIP:

Utah Code Ann. §§ 48-1-3(1)(a) and 48-1-4(4)

CASES

MANIFEST ERROR STANDARD:

1. *Mary J. Bailey (Adams) v. Spencer Adams*, 1990.UT.213, 798 P.2d 1142, 143 Utah Adv. Rep. 39 (Utah Appeal 09/19/90)

JUDICIAL ESTOPPEL;

2. *Tracy Loan & Trust Co., v. Openshaw Inv. Co.*, 102 Utah 509, 132 P.2d 388, 390 (Utah 1942)

3. *Nebeker v. Utah State Tax Commission*, 2001 UT 74, 34 P.3d 180

4. *Salt Lake City v. Silver Fork Pipeline Corp.*, 913 P.2d 731, (Utah 1996)

5. *Masters v. Worsley*, 1989.UT.175, 777 P.2d 499, 112 Utah Adv. Rep. 39 (Utah Appeal 1989),

6. *Richards v. Hodson*, 26 Utah 2d 113, 485 P.2d 1044 (Utah 1971)

PROHIBITION OF ATTORNEY BUYING JUDGMENT AGAINST CLIENT:

7. *Snow, Nuffer, Engstrom & Drake v. Tanasse*, 980 P.2d 208, 1999 UT 49, 369 Utah Adv. Rep. 36 (Utah 1999)

SUMMARY JUDGMENT STANDARD:

a. Facts viewed in light most favorable to Appellant below:

8. *Wheeler v. Mann*, 763 P.2d 758, 759 (Utah 1988)

b. Credibility not to be weighed in Motion for Summary Judgment:

9. *Winegar v. Froerer et. al.*, 1991.UT.110, 813 P.2d 104, 161 Utah Adv. Rep. 22 (Utah 1991)

EXHIBIT LIST

- Exhibit 1: Deposition of Will Vigil
- Exhibit 2: Deposition of Tommy Triplett
- Exhibit 3: Deposition of Jade Griffen
- Exhibit 4: Demand for Audit and Accounting to Orvis, August 2001
- Exhibit 5: SBA Deposition of DaNell Johnson, April 1999
- Exhibit 6: Memorandum in Support of Plaintiff Jayson Orvis' Motion for Summary Judgment; and Affidavit of Jayson Orvis.
- Exhibit 7: SBA Deposition of Jamis Johnson, November 1999.
- Exhibit 8: Memorandum of Jamis Johnson in Opposition to Jayson Orvis' Motion for Summary Judgment.
- Exhibit 9: Transcript of Hearing on Plaintiff's Motion for Summary Judgment.
- Exhibit 10: Minute Entry, District Court, Judge Timothy Hanson, October 20, 2004
- Exhibit 11: Judgment; and Findings of Facts and Conclusions of Law
- Exhibit 12: 1999 Orvis-Johnson Partnership Agreement
- Exhibit 13: 1994 Partnership Memorandum
- Exhibit 14: Assignment of Trade Name, January 2001
- Exhibit 15: Orvis Supplemental Answer To Interrogatory No. 11
- Exhibit 16: Sundry Orvis-Johnson correspondence reflecting profit share and partnership.
- Exhibit 17: Jamis Johnson Deposition in this case, June 2002
- Exhibit 18: Letter To Dan Berman, August 2001

FACTS

The facts relied upon herein are supported by the sworn verification of Appellant Johnson. The facts demonstrating the partnership between Appellant Johnson and

Appellee Orvis will be presented first to present a proper background of the matter as was presented to the district court. Because of the district court's improper application of the doctrine of judicial estoppel based on a purported inconsistent statement by Appellant in a prior unrelated proceeding between the SBA and Appellant, said facts will be included here as well to illustrate the clear manifest error by the district court. For clarity, the parties will be intermittently referred to hereinafter by their proper names rather than their appellate designations.

1. Brief Outline of Factual and Procedural History

1. Appellee Orvis (Plaintiff below) and Appellant Johnson (and wife DaNell) have a partnership extending back to 1994 and dividing profit share on a group of credit repair businesses.

2. The partnership is documented and evidenced by written agreements, course of performance and financial records.

3. The partnership and businesses grew to be extremely profitable now involving millions of dollars.

4. Appellant asserts that Appellee Orvis first began embezzling and misappropriating partnership profit share as early as 1997. Discovery to date, particularly deposition testimony of Appellee employees, confirm this. (See the deposition testimony of Will Vigil excerpted herein on pages 14 and 15, *infra*, and in Exhibit 1; See the deposition testimony of Tommy Triplett excerpted herein on pages 15 through 17, *infra*, and in Exhibit 2; and see the deposition testimony of Jade Griffen, excerpted herein on pages 14 and 15, *infra*, and in Exhibit 3.)

5. In July 2001, Appellant made demand on Appellee for an accounting and an

audit. (See Demand For Audit and Accounting, Exhibit 4.)

6. In August 2001, Appellee Orvis, using partnership funds, purchased an SBA judgment against Appellant to use offensively to mask the preceding fraud, to attempt to extinguish the partnership, and to seize profit share distribution; and upon acquiring the SBA judgment did withhold, seize, and convert profit share that had hitherto been distributed to the Johnsons.

7. The SBA judgment was purchased with the counsel and participation of Victor Lawrence, attorney for DaNell Johnson and for Appellant, in the SBA case, and numerous other personal matters, and in business affairs of the partnership. (Triplett Deposition, Exhibit 2, See excerpts and discussion, pages 15 through 17 *infra*; See SBA deposition of DaNell Johnson, Exhibit 5, and discussion and excerpts thereof, page 19 and 20 *infra*.)

8. These actions by Lawrence and Orvis are in breach of attorney fiduciary duty and partner fiduciary duty; the object of this conspiracy by Lawrence and Orvis was to take the profit share owed to the Johnsons, which at this date would exceed \$1.5 Million (based on the last six months of actual profit share) and is closer to \$5 Million based on amounts concealed and converted by Mr. Orvis; Mr. Orvis and Mr. Lawrence profited by these acts by converting Appellant profit share and dividing it between themselves.

9. In August 2001, after Appellant's demand for accounting, and in concert with his purchase of the SBA judgment, Appellant Orvis brought this suit in Third District Court against Appellant seeking a declaratory judgment that Appellant had no partnership with Appellee or alternatively such interest was limited to 25% of two specific businesses.

10. Appellant counterclaimed for an accounting and for profits; DaNell Johnson was joined as a Third Party Plaintiff, and Victor Lawrence and others as Third Party Defendants.

11. On March 29, 2004 Appellee Orvis moved for summary judgment. (Exhibit 6 contains both the Memorandum in Support of Plaintiff Jayson Orvis' Motion for Summary Judgment, and the Affidavit of Jayson Orvis.) Citing only an 1857 Tennessee case as support, Appellee asserted that Appellant was judicially estopped from asserting a partnership interest with Appellee Orvis; this estoppel was based of an Orvis' interpretation of a response by Appellant in a deposition taken by the SBA in an unrelated prior case between the SBA and Appellant. Appellee Orvis asserted that Johnson responded to the SBA that he did not have partnerships. (It is the judgment in this SBA case that was purchased by Appellee.) (Exhibit 7 is the November 1999 SBA Deposition of Jamis Johnson.)

12. Appellant opposed the summary judgment motion. (Exhibit 8 is the Memorandum of Jamis Johnson in Opposition to Jayson Orvis' Motion for Summary Judgment.) Appellant asserted that i.) the quote was misconstrued, but was irrelevant regardless under the doctrine of judicial estoppel, and ii.) the doctrine of judicial estoppel, to be operative here, requires that the prior (SBA) action and this present action be between the same parties; the prior action involve the same issues as this action; the prior action be "successfully maintained"; and that Appellee must have detrimentally relied on the statement in the SBA deposition. Appellant argued that Appellee met none of the requirements for the doctrine of judicial estoppel to be applicable in this case.

13. The court heard oral argument on August 9, 2004. (Exhibit 9 is the transcript of Plaintiff's Motion for Summary Judgment.)

14. In its minute entry of October 20, 2004, the Court granted summary judgment to Appellee, stating "...there was no question of mistake, Johnson testified as he did [in the prior unrelated SBA deposition] so as to avoid collection efforts from the Small Business Administration." [Emphasis added]; the court found that Appellant Johnson should be judicially estopped in this case from asserting a partnership based on the contested SBA deposition statement; and the court granted summary judgment to Appellee Orvis. (Exhibit 10 is the district court's minute entry dated October 20, 2004.)

15. Appellee drafted a Judgment and a Findings of Facts and Conclusions of Law which were executed by the district court on October 20, 2004. That findings of fact were entered is evidence alone of improper weighing of facts as opposed to issues of law which is the only consideration for granting summary judgment. (Exhibit 11 contains both the Judgment, and the Findings of Facts and Conclusions of Law.)

2. Evidence of the partnership between Mr. Johnson and Mr. Orvis.

16. Extensive and substantial evidence exists documenting the partnership between Mr. Orvis and Mr. Johnson. The evidence includes not only written partnership agreements, and profit share distribution checks, but letters, recorded oral statements of the parties and witness testimony. The evidence is so extensive that only portions were presented in district court in support of the opposition to the motion for summary judgment. Discovery was not complete when summary judgment was entered. Here, only a portion of the existing evidence submitted below will be

referenced but sufficient evidence to demonstrate a partnership under Utah statutes and case law. The evidence of the partnership is presented here by type: first documentary evidence then deposition testimony of third parties and of Mr. and Mrs. Johnson.

A. Written Documentation of the Orvis-Johnson Partnership.

17. There are numerous documents providing clear evidence of the Orvis-Johnson partnership and that that Orvis and Johnson operated a partnership or joint venture to engage in activities broadly described as the "credit repair" business.

i.) The Partnership Agreement

18 Perhaps most compelling of these documents is an "Agreement", a copy of which Mr. Orvis produced in discovery. (Attached as Exhibit 12 is the Agreement). Though undated, the Agreement was signed by both Mr. Orvis and Mr. Johnson in May of 1999 along with other documents. (Hereinafter this said Agreement is referred to as the "1999 Orvis-Johnson Partnership Agreement".) It memorializes and sets forth the terms of a pre-existing and continuing arrangement between the Orvis and the Johnsons to share profits from businesses providing "credit repair services." This is, of course, the very definition of a partnership. Utah Code Ann. §§ 48-1-3(1)(a) ("a partnership is an association of two or more persons to carry on as co-owners a business for profit"), 48-1-4(4) ("[t]he receipt by a person of a share of the profits of a business is prima facie evidence that he is a partner in the business." . . .)

19. In its recital paragraphs, the 1999 Orvis-Johnson Partnership Agreement recounts the history of the business relationship between Mr. Orvis and Mr. Johnson. It states "Orvis and Johnson have developed over the last several years enterprises

that provide credit repair services to a nationwide clientele." 1999 Orvis-Johnson Partnership Agreement, at 1 (emphasis added).

20. The 1999 Orvis-Johnson Partnership Agreement then details the credit repair services of these "enterprises," and explains their growth: "Such credit repair services include, but are not limited to a range of activities, including telemarketing, internet marketing, consulting, law representation, and the enterprises have grown over the years and have acquired a variety of tangible and intangible assets including, without limitation, for example equipment, computers, software, furniture, knowledge, methods, techniques in marketing, lead sources, internet operations." *Id.* (emphasis added).

21. The 1999 Orvis-Johnson Partnership Agreement also states that "the parties acknowledge that they have governed and operated these enterprises under an outline agreement and under a course of performance that they desire to continue." *Id.* (emphasis added).

22. The 1999 Orvis-Johnson Partnership Agreement also explains, to some extent, what has occasioned its execution. It states "the parties desire to provide for the unimpaired continuation and growth of the business to the mutual benefit of the parties," and that "an agreement was put in place reciting that all assets of this enterprise are placed in the name of Jayson Orvis so as to protect these assets and provide for the continued growth and mutual profitability." *Id.*

23. Against the backdrop of these recitals – which are acknowledged and agreed to by both Orvis and Johnson – the parties then expressly agree (1) that "[g]overnance and compensation/allocation of profits shall continue in the percentages

as heretofore provided under the operating arrangements and as the enterprise continues to grow"; (2) that "all monies shall be paid to Jayson Orvis or his business entity . . . and Jayson Orvis shall provide Johnson's share or allocation to any party directed by Johnson"; and (3) that "the intent being that these enterprises shall continue to grow, expand, multiply as directed by the parties under their outline agreement and course of performance to their mutual economic benefit." *Id.* (emphasis added).

ii.) The 1994 Memorandum

24. The 1999 Partnership Agreement alone, is blatant, unequivocal evidence of the Orvis-Johnson partnership; it is executed by the parties and specifically identifies and defines the ongoing partnership. But it is hardly the only document evidencing the partnership. For instance, as early as 1994, there is a memorandum dated September 1, 1994 from Jamis Johnson, Jayson Orvis, and others, and addressed to these same individuals, which memorializes the formation of an entity called "The Genesis Project." Mr. Orvis produced a copy of this memorandum. (Exhibit 13 is the Genesis Project Agreement.) The Memorandum reflects that, in consideration for their respective contributions (which are specified in the Memorandum), the parties expressly agree (1) to establish "The Genesis Project," "whose purpose is to create and manage profitable entities for the five partners," *id.* (emphasis added), and (2) to "[d]ivide equally the equity and profits of The Genesis Project." *Id.* (emphasis added). This memorandum is further evidentiary support" for the partnership, with, as Johnsons claim, it inception back as far as 1994.

iii.) **Assignment of trade name January 20001 is evidence of Orvis-Johnson partnership**

25. On January 12, 2001, Mr. Johnson executed an Assignment to Mr. Orvis assigning the trade name "Lexington Law Firms" to Mr. Orvis to hold for the mutual benefit of both. (Exhibit 14 is the Assignment of trade name.)

26. Mr. Orvis obtained this Assignment from Mr. Johnson, references it in his Complaint and produced it in discovery. He recorded it and it is on file with the Department of Commerce.

27. This Assignment is clear evidence of the ongoing Orvis-Johnson partnership. It states:

WHEREAS, the said trade name [Lexington Law Firms] is an asset actually owned jointly by Jamis M. Johnson and Jayson Orvis, and

WHEREAS, Jamis M. Johnson and Jayson own intellectual property and tangible and intangible assets for the business of credit repair and per prior agreement, this trade name is to be assigned by Jamis M. Johnson to Jayson Orvis, and

WHEREAS, Jayson Orvis has established a limited liability company called Attorneys For People, LLC., of which he is the only member in which he was to hold some of these joint assets and through which he administrates [sic] some of the credit repair business, and

WHEREAS, Jamis M. Johnson desires to assign the trade name to Jayson Orvis/Attorneys For People and it shall form and is part of these assets jointly owned by Johnson and Orvis and administrated by Orvis;

NOW, THEREFORE, based on the foregoing recitals and upon the prior agreement of the parties ... [Johnson assigns trade name to Orvis]
[Emphasis added]

28. Thus, only a few months before Mr. Orvis secretly purchased the SBA judgment and filed this lawsuit claiming Mr. Johnson had no partnership, Mr. Orvis and Mr. Johnson are passing a legal document between them clearly describing the

ongoing partnership.

iv.) Documents Evidencing Payments of "Profit Share" to Johnsons

29. The partnership, from the start of 1998, had an unbroken chain of profit share checks distributing profits between the partners on an agreed upon formula. The payments distributed to Johnson, by agreement from 1996, were consistently distributed to Mrs. DaNell Johnson, wife of Appellant, (or to her business entities) who per prior agreement held the beneficial interest and received the distribution. Such profit share distribution is demonstrated by these checks from late 1997 until August of 2001 when Appellee Orvis simultaneously purchased the SBA judgment (referenced herein) and filed this suit for a declaratory judgment that there was no partnership and withheld all further profit share distribution. Mr. Orvis, in discovery, produced a partial but nonetheless extensive list of the profit share distribution to Johnsons. That list is set out in Mr. Orvis' response to discovery. In Supplemental Responses to Mr. Johnson's First Set of Interrogatories, Mr. Orvis admits that he (or the Orvis entities) made substantial payments to Johnson on a regular basis until August of 2001. See Plaintiff, Counter Defendant and Third-party Defendant Jayson Orvis' Supplemental Responses to Defendant, Counterclaimant and Third-party Plaintiff Jamis Johnson's First Set of Interrogatories and Requests for Production of Documents, at 8-9 (Interrogatory No. 11) (Attached as Exhibit 15; see also Complaint, ¶ 24). Other documents evidence the shared profits from the credit repair business. There is, for example, a memo authored and signed by Mr. Orvis, addressed to Mr. Johnson, and dated March 2, 1998, which refers to the parties' "profit shares." (A copy of this memo is attached hereto as Exhibit 10 thereto.)

30. In his interrogatory answers, Mr. Orvis, while admitting the substantial distributions, characterizes this long history of payments as "voluntar[y], and in Orvis' full discretion as to both amount and frequency," id. This answer, that the profit share distributions were essentially a gift to Mr. Johnson, obviously lacks basic credibility. The payments are substantial (some as much as \$34,000), regularly made on a specific monthly basis, and per the agreed on formula, and the payments continue without interruption from 1998 through August of 2001, when Mr. Johnson demanded an accounting and audit of the partnership, and Mr. Orvis filed his declaratory judgment Complaint. This continual history of payments referred to by both parties as profit share is concrete course of performance and blunt evidence of the Orvis-Johnson partnership.

v.) Correspondence Between Orvis and Johnson Concerning Their Business Relationship.

31. In addition to these documents, there is a long history of correspondence exchanged between Mr. Johnson and Mr. Orvis between 1999 and 2001 right up to a few days before Mr. Orvis filed this lawsuit, concerning their profit share and ongoing partnership. This correspondence provides further evidence of the Orvis-Johnson partnership.

32. By the end of 1998, Mr. Johnson was facing enormous professional problems. He was facing disbarment. See *In the Matter of the Discipline of Jamis M. Johnson*, 48 P.3d 881 (2002) (upholding the same district court's summary judgment order disbaring Johnson).¹

1. Judge Timothy Hanson, Third District Judge, was both the trial judge in this matter and in the bar

33. And, through failed business ventures several money judgments had been entered against him, including a substantial judgment in favor of the Small Business Administration. Further, the State of Tennessee had brought suit against Mr. Johnson in his capacity as the "dba" of Lexington Law Firm, one of the entities managed by the Orvis-Johnson partnership.

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