2004

Jamis M. Johnson v. Jayson Orvis : Brief of Appellee

Utah Court of Appeals

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

Third, Judge Hanson’s conclusion that judicial estoppel applied barred Johnson from using “purported evidence” of the alleged partnership to create an issue of fact.

B. Judge Hanson Considered Each Of The Three Elements Johnson Asserted Were Required Elements For Judicial Estoppel And, Based On The Undisputed Facts Relative To Those Elements, Correctly Concluded Judicial Estoppel Applied And Summary Judgment Was Warranted.

Johnson, in his opposition to Orvis’ motion for summary judgment, affirmatively asserted judicial estoppel had three required elements: (1) the prior proceeding and current action must be between the same parties or their privies; (2) the prior proceeding

and current action must involve the same subject matter; and (3) the position in the prior proceeding must have been successfully maintained. [R. at 2262] Those were the only elements Johnson asserted were required. [Id.]

On appeal, Johnson continues to assert that those three elements are required elements but, for the first time on appeal, now claims there are two additional required elements – (1) detrimental reliance on Johnson’s prior SBA testimony and (2) Johnson’s prior SBA testimony was in bad faith and not a mistake. [Johnson Br. at 5-6] These two newly asserted elements will be addressed in subsections C & D below.

Johnson asserts on appeal that there were issues of material fact with regard to the three elements Johnson did assert below which prevented Judge Hanson from entering summary judgment. Johnson’s argument is disingenuous and wholly without merit.

1. Johnson’s First Element – It Was Undisputed That Orvis Was In Privity With The SBA.

The first Johnson element – mutuality of the parties – has already been fully addressed above at pp. 24-27.

2. Johnson’s Second Element – It Was Undisputed The SBA Proceeding Involved The Same Subject Matter: Johnson’s Prior Sworn Testimony Contradicted His Position Here.

The second Johnson element – same subject matters – has two aspects. First, if this court determines that judicial estoppel requires same subject matters in the prior and current action – which Orvis submits it should not – the appropriate prior proceeding to consider is the proceeding in which Johnson’s SBA testimony was undisputably given.

The underlying action in which the SBA judgment was entered is not the proper prior proceeding to consider, contrary to Johnson's assertion, because that is not the judicial proceeding in which Johnson's SBA testimony was given. That proceeding is irrelevant for a subject matter determination.

The undisputed facts demonstrate the subject matter in the SBA post-judgment supplemental proceeding is the same as the subject matter in this proceeding for purposes of judicial estoppel. It is undisputed that the purpose of the SBA supplemental proceeding was to identify assets Johnson had that would satisfy the judgment against Johnson. Those assets included any interest Johnson had in any partnership or LLC. That is why Johnson's deposition was taken and that is why the questions at his deposition were directed at identifying assets in which he might have an interest. Indeed, Judge Hanson characterized those proceedings as proceedings "for collection purposes." [R. at 2627, ¶ 5] Likewise, the subject matter of this action is undisputed. This is an action to determine whether Johnson has as one of his assets a partnership interest in Orvis' businesses. [R. at 1-14, 20-39, 2624; Johnson Br. at vii] It strains credulity to argue the two subject matters are not the same for the purpose of judicial estoppel – preventing litigants from using judicial proceedings to perpetrate wrongdoing.

The real focus of Johnson's second element, however, is whether Johnson's testimony in the SBA proceeding contradicts his position here that he has a partnership

interest in Orvis' businesses. Judge Hanson, based on the undisputed facts, held that it did. [R. at 2624, 2625, 2627]

Johnson's challenge to Judge Hanson's conclusion on the ground there were issues of material fact with regard to that question [Johnson Br. at 19-24] is made out of whole cloth. While Johnson argues that there is an extensive record demonstrating the question he was asked regarding partnerships was vague and ambiguous, and that he understood the partnership question to "involve real estate activities, and not to encompass the Orvis credit repair businesses. . . ." [Johnson Br. at 19-22], Johnson does not cite to a single piece of evidence to support his position. For good reason; there is no record support. His only general reference to purported "substantial and extensive support" is his memorandum opposing the Orvis motion for summary judgment, Johnson's supporting affidavit, and his answer to the SBA's partnership question. [Johnson Br. at 20] Johnson's reliance on these three items is wholly misplaced; none of them created an issue of material fact relative to the question of contradiction.

Johnson's legal memorandum, filed by his lawyer, in opposition to Orvis' motion is not evidence; it cannot create an issue of material fact.

Johnson's affidavit not only does not support Johnson's position, it establishes that Johnson's SBA testimony contradicts his position in this case. Johnson's affidavit only addresses his SBA testimony at issue in one paragraph – paragraph 39 – of a 60

paragraph affidavit that is 16 pages in length. Johnson's only testimony in his affidavit regarding that SBA testimony is:

In his deposition, Jamis Johnson accurately disclosed the information requested by the SBA.

[R. at 2274] That is it. There is no testimony he didn't understand the question or thought the question was about real estate partnerships not a partnership interest in Orvis' businesses. In fact, the heading he uses in his affidavit for the SBA testimony demonstrates the SBA question and his answer included any partnership interest, not just real estate partnerships. In his affidavit, Johnson labeled the SBA testimony as testimony about "Interest in **any** partnerships – ". [R. at 2275 (emphasis added)]

Johnson's argument that there was an issue of material fact because the SBA question is ambiguous is refuted by the question itself. The question the SBA asked Johnson was:

Q. Do you have any interest in any partnerships?

[R. at 2275] That question, on its face, is a clear, unambiguous question. It does not create an issue of material fact.

Johnson's argument that his entire answer to that question created an issue of material fact again is wrong. Johnson's complete answer to the question "Do you have any interest in any partnerships" is:

A. **No.** I mean you know, often I'll have a joint endeavor with somebody, but **I don't have a partnership** or set up a partnership or an LLC. You know, if I get a deal I say, Hey,

do you want to do this deal together? We'll go up to Summit County and buy a lot.

Q. So a joint venture?

A. Yeah, you can call it that, but I don't have any outgoing partnerships.

[R. at 2275 (emphasis added)] His answer confirms his SBA testimony is contradictory.

He denied he had any interest in any partnerships.

Johnson's answer to the SBA's question whether Johnson had "[a]ny interest in any limited liability companies" is also a categorical denial.

A. **No.** I had an interest in a limited liability company in California called Simmons Shores, LLC. The property got foreclosed out from underneath it. I made some money from raising loans for it, but that no longer exists. I had an interest in an outfit called Western Equities, LLC, but that is no longer functional. **I have no interest in LLCs or corporations.**

[R. at 2275 (emphasis added)]

3. Johnson's Third Element – It Was Undisputed Johnson Successfully Maintained His Prior Position In The SBA Proceeding That He Had No Interest In Any Partnerships.

The record, as stated by Judge Hanson, undisputably demonstrated that Johnson successfully maintained his sworn denial that he had any interest in any partnerships or any other assets. The SBA never collected its judgment against Johnson and ultimately sold it for a fraction of its face value. [R. at 2271, ¶ 25; R. at 2280, ¶ 52; R. at 2282 ¶ 60;

R. at 2381, 2513; R. at 2627, ¶¶ 4-5; R. at 2627, ¶¶ 6-7] There is no evidence to the contrary.

C. Johnson Waived As An Issue On Appeal Whether An Essential Element Of Judicial Estoppel Is That The Prior Position Was Not A Mistake; In Any Event, The Undisputed Facts Demonstrated It Was Not A Mistake.

Johnson, for the first time on appeal, raises the issue of whether lack of mistake – inadvertence – was an essential element of judicial estoppel. [Johnson Br. at vi] Johnson never raised that issue before Judge Hanson. In fact, Johnson asserted below that there were only three essential elements of judicial estoppel, none of which was lack of mistake. [R. at 2262]¹² Johnson, therefore, has waived that issue as a basis for appeal. Blackner, 2002 UT 44, ¶ 16, n.1, 48 P.3d at 953 n.1; Paulos, 2004 UT App. 35, ¶ 10, 86 P.3d 752.

Even if he had preserved the issue, it would make no difference. Judge Hanson considered that factor, and it was undisputed, as stated by Judge Hanson, that: “There was no question of mistake. Johnson testified as he did so as to avoid collection efforts

¹² Johnson knows he did not preserve this issue below. The only cite he has for his assertion that he preserved the issue below is a cite to the page of his legal memorandum where he states there are only three elements, none of which is mistake. [Johnson Br. at vi]

from the Small Business Administration.” [R. at 2620]¹³ There was no evidence of mistake.

It was undisputed Johnson was a lawyer at the time he was deposed. He knew the purpose for his deposition being taken by the SBA. He knew the SBA would execute upon any asset, including any partnership interest in Orvis’ businesses, he disclosed in his deposition to satisfy the judgment against him. The question the SBA asked him about partnerships was clear and unambiguous – “Do you have any interest in any partnerships.” [R. at 1983] Johnson answered that question under oath with an unequivocal “No.” [Id.] Johnson never asked to have the question clarified and never changed his testimony during the deposition or after his testimony was transcribed. In his affidavit in opposition to Orvis’ motion, Johnson admitted his testimony was “accurate,” and that he understood the question to include interests he had in **any** partnerships – “Interests in **any** partnerships”, SBA deposition testimony at “P.30 lines 16-25 and P.31 lines 1-24.” [R. at 2275 (emphasis added)]

Johnson now in this case wants to contradict his prior sworn testimony for his own economic benefit. He wants to use the judicial system to perpetrate a fraud.

¹³ 3D Construction and Development v. Old Standard Life Insurance Co., 2005 UT. App. 307, ¶ 12, 117 P.3d 1082, 1086, requires nothing further to uphold Judge Hanson’s decision. It should be noted, moreover, that the Court’s statement that the Tenth Circuit does not recognize the doctrine of judicial estoppel is no longer true. Johnson v. Lindon City Corp., 405 F.3d 1065 (10th Cir. 2005).

Johnson either lied in the SBA proceeding for his own economic benefit or he is lying to Judge Hanson for his own economic benefit.

D. Johnson Did Not Raise And Therefore Waived As An Issue On Appeal Whether Detrimental Reliance Is An Essential Element of Judicial Estoppel; In Any Event, The Undisputed Record Demonstrated The SBA Relied On Johnson's SBA Testimony To Its Detriment.

Johnson, for the first time on appeal, raises as an issue that detrimental reliance is an essential element of judicial estoppel under Utah law. [Johnson Br. at vi]¹⁴ Johnson has waived that issue as a basis for appeal. Blackner, 2004 UT. 44, ¶ 16 n.1; Paulos, 2004 UT. App. 35, ¶ 10.

In any event, the undisputed evidence demonstrated the SBA detrimentally relied on Johnson's sworn denial he had no interest in any partnerships. It is undisputed the SBA never collected on its judgment and eventually sold it for a fraction of its face value.

E. Even Though Under A De Novo Review, Judge Hanson's Decision And The Final Judgment Must Be Affirmed, The Appropriate Standard For Reviewing Judge Hanson's Conclusion That Judicial Estoppel Applied Is An Abuse Of Discretion Standard.

It does not matter whether the Court reviews Judge Hanson's conclusion that judicial estoppel applied under de novo review or under an abuse of discretion standard.

¹⁴ Again, Johnson's record cite for preservation of this issue is to his opposing memorandum where he states there are three required elements, none of which is detrimental reliance. [Johnson Br. at vi; R. at 2262]

However, the proper standard for review is the abuse of discretion standard, even though this appeal is from Judge Hanson's grant of summary judgment.

While Utah appellate courts have never addressed the proper standard of review in a case such as this one, other appellate courts which have squarely addressed the issue apply an abuse of discretion standard of review to a trial court's application of judicial estoppel, even within the context of a grant of summary judgment.¹⁵ Alternative Sys. Concepts, Inc. v. Synopsys, Inc., 374 F.3d 23, 30-32 (1st Cir. 2004); accord Nat. Union. Fire Ins. Co. of Pittsburg v. Mfrs. and Traders Trust Co., 137 Fed. Appx. 529, 530 (4th Cir. 2005); In re West Delta Oil Co., 66 Fed. Appx. 524 (5th Cir. 2003); De Leon v. Comcar Indus., Inc., 321 F.3d 1289, 1291 (11th Cir. 2003); Hamilton v. State Farm Fire & Casualty Co., 270 F.3d 778, 782 (9th Cir. 2001); Ahrens v. Perot Sys. Corp., 205 F.3d 831, 833 (5th Cir. 2000); Barack Ferrazzano Kirschbaum Perlman & Nagelberg v. Loffredi, 795 N.E.2d 779, 783-84, 789-90 (Ill. Ct. App. 2003); Otis v. Arbella Mut. Ins. Co., 824 N.E.2d 23, 29 (Mass. 2005); Garrett v. Morgan, 112 P.3d 531, 533 (Wash. Ct. App. 2005).

¹⁵An abuse of discretion standard of review is appropriate relative to the trial court's application of judicial estoppel because "judicial estoppel is an equitable doctrine invoked by a court at its discretion," application of the doctrine draws upon the trial court's intimate knowledge of the case, and the amorphous nature of the doctrine requires a flexible standard. Alternative Sys. Concepts, 374 F.3d at 30-31 (quoting New Hampshire v. Maine, 532 U.S. 742, 750 (2001)).

More specifically, in an appeal arising from the grant of summary judgment on the basis of judicial estoppel, these courts apply a two-tiered standard of review. First, the appellate court determines whether the trial court abused its discretion in applying judicial estoppel. Barack, 795 N.E.2d at 789-90. After making this determination, the court then reviews de novo the grant of summary judgment. Id. If the trial court did not abuse its discretion in applying judicial estoppel, then the non-moving party is “judicially estopped from attempting to create a question of fact for purposes of summary judgment by contradicting their previous positions,” and summary judgment is appropriate. Id.; Alternative Sys. Concepts, 374 F.3d at 31-32.¹⁶

As a result, Johnson’s argument that there were disputed material facts relative to the judicial estoppel factors is inapposite. The question is not whether there were disputed facts relative to the factors utilized for application of judicial estoppel. Rather, the question is whether, if Judge Hanson did not abuse his discretion in applying judicial estoppel to prevent Johnson from presenting any evidence of a partnership, were there any remaining material issues of disputed fact. Ultimately, if there were no remaining material issues of disputed fact, Judge Hanson’s grant of summary judgment was correct as a matter of law.

¹⁶Under Utah law, a trial court’s decision to exclude evidence for purposes of a motion for summary judgment is reviewed for abuse of discretion. See Alder v. Bayer Corp., 2002 UT 115, ¶ 20, 61 P.3d 1068, 1075-76; Murdock v. Springville Mun. Corp. (In re General Determination of the Rights to the Use of All the Water), 982 P.2d 65, 71-72 (Utah 1999).

III. JOHNSON WAIVED, AS A BASIS FOR APPEAL, HIS ASSERTION THAT JUDGE HANSON WAS BIASED; IN ANY EVENT, THERE IS NO EVIDENCE OF JUDICIAL BIAS.

Johnson asserts, for the first time on appeal, that the Judgment should be reversed because Judge Hanson was biased against Johnson. [Johnson Br. at vi] Johnson admits he did not raise that issue below. [Id.; 22-32]

The law in Utah is clear that Utah courts will not consider an allegation of judicial bias raised for the first time on appeal. Utah Rule Civ. P. 63(b); Campbell, Maack & Sessions v. Debry, 2001 UT. App. 397, ¶ 24, 38 P.3d 984; Wade v. Stangl, 869 P.2d 9, 11 (Utah Ct. App. 1994) (“We will not, therefore, consider the issue of judicial bias or prejudice when raised for the first time on appeal.”).

Moreover, Johnson’s assertion that Judge Hanson was biased against him because Judge Hanson oversaw Johnson’s disbarment proceedings is not supported by any record.¹⁷ Judicial bias is a serious charge, and one that should not be leveled lightly and with absolutely no evidence to substantiate it. See State v. State, 965 P.2d 551, 556 (Utah Ct. App. 1998) (“Utah cases have consistently required that the bias alleged . . . ‘have some basis in fact and be grounded on more than mere conjecture and

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